YEMEN: ON THE BRINK A Carnegie Paper Series



Exploiting Grievances

Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula

Alistair Harris

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

WASHINGTON DC MOSCOW BEIJING BEIRUT BRUSSELS

Middle East Program Number 111 ■ May 2010

CARNEGIE

Exploiting Grievances

Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula

Alistair Harris

An effective strategy to combat AQAP must seek to understand how the group's narrative resonates with the Yemeni people, and find ways for state institutions to address those grievances.

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

WASHINGTON DC . MOSCOW . BEIJING . BEIRUT . BRUSSELS

Middle East Program Number 111 • May 2010 © 2010 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

The Carnegie Endowment does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented here are the author's own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Endowment, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 Phone: 202-483-7600 Fax: 202-483-1840 www.CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at www.CarnegieEndowment.org/ pubs.

About the Author

Alistair Harris is a former diplomat and UN staff member. He is an associate fellow at the Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) and frequent commentator for RUSI on Middle Eastern issues, as well as director of the research consultancy Pursue Ltd. A specialist in counter-radicalization, security sector assistance, and post-conflict stabilization, he has worked in recent years in the Balkans, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Yemen, the Palestinian Territories, Lebanon, and Africa.

Harris has a first class degree from Emmanuel College, Cambridge and is a graduate student at the Centre for the Study of Terrorism and Political Violence at St. Andrews University.

Contents

Summary	1
Introduction	1
The Evolution of al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula	2
Sada al-Malahim and Frameworks of Collective Action	5
Identifying Grievances—AQAP's Diagnostic Framework	6
Addressing Grievances—AQAP's Prognostic Frame	7
Assessing the Threat—Capability and Intent	7
Yemen as a Safe Haven and Destination for Foreign Fighters	8
Conclusion: The Limitations of Hard Power and a Developmental Approach to Counterterrorism	9
Recommendations	10
Notes	13



Summary

People of Islam, the fields of jihad are calling every Muslim who fears with ardor for the dignity and the holy principles of Muslims to join its ranks in Afghanistan, Chechnya, the Islamic State of Iraq, the Islamic Maghreb, Somalia and the Arabian Peninsula and other lands. People of faith, the fields of jihad welcome scholars, doctors, engineers, youth, and skilled Muslims with expertise.¹

Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP), an offshoot of Osama Bin Laden's terrorist network and a group that has been operating in Yemen and Saudi Arabia, presents a growing regional and international security challenge. Analysis of AQAP confirms that it has been adept at aligning the grievances of Yemeni communities with its own narrative of what is wrong and who is responsible. But AQAP's limited membership shows this has not translated into widespread recruitment because of dissonance between the organization's recommended course of action—violent jihad—and traditional Yemeni methods of seeking redress.² Failure to address such grievances, however, runs the risk of increasing receptivity to alternative frameworks that include the use of violence.

Complementary to targeted intelligence and Yemeni-led law enforcement activities, an effective strategy to combat AQAP must seek to understand which parts of the group's narrative are resonating and why and how state institutions can address the grievances—real or perceived—articulated by AQAP. At the same time, policy makers must exploit contradictions in the extremist narrative, particularly regarding the (in)efficacy and illegitimacy of violent jihad. Increased governmental visibility and service delivery at the local level are therefore recommended as components of a development assistance approach to counterterrorism. Such an approach is premised on commitment by and partnership with the Yemeni government and an acknowledgment of the limitations of military operations to deal with the threat comprehensively.

Introduction

There is a consensus that Yemeni, regional, and international security is threatened by AQAP. In a recent (February 2010) edition of AQAP's bimonthly e-magazine *Sada al-Malahim* [The Echo of Epic Battles], an author using the nom de plume Hamil al-Misk (The Musk Bearer) emphasized that the organization had now moved from a defensive to an offensive mode of operation:

We bring to our nation the good news that the mujahideen passed the stage of defense and repulsion of the aggression to the stage where they can take initiatives and attack.³

Following the attempted assassination of Saudi Assistant Minister of Interior for Security Affairs Prince Muhammad bin Nayef bin Abdulaziz in August 2009⁴ and the failed attempt by 23-year-old Nigerian Umar Farouk Abdulmutallab to detonate an explosive device on a flight to Detroit on Christmas Day last year,⁵ the U.S. response was swift and predictable. CENTCOM Commander Gen. David Petraeus immediately visited Yemen and announced the American intention to double security aid to the country.⁶ In the face of increasingly alarmist claims about the nature of the threat posed by AQAP, U.S.-assisted missile and air strikes have attempted to decapitate AQAP in a series of targeted strikes.⁷ Such a strategy had proved effective in 2002, when an American drone killed the head of al-Qaeda in Yemen at the time, Abu Ali al-Harithi.

Dealing with symptoms is no substitute for dealing with causes, however. In the rush to offer prescriptive advice, key questions remain unanswered. What do we actually know about AQAP? How has the organization evolved in terms of membership, structure, tactics, and goals? What is it trying to achieve, and crucially, why? What lessons can we learn for countering processes of radicalization? Prevention and the promotion of community resilience, as much as protective and offensive measures, need to form part of the counterterrorism tool kit.

The Evolution of al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula

In a statement released on February 8, 2010, AQAP's deputy leader Saeed al-Shihri gave a clear indication of the nature of the relationship of the organization to what is termed "al-Qaeda core," the nucleus of al-Qaeda operating in the border area between Afghanistan and Pakistan. Al-Shihri addressed his comments to "our sheikhs and amirs in the general command in Khorasan [Afghanistan]" and in doing so described those self-identified as al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula as "your mujahideen children in the Peninsula of Mohammad."⁸ The raised profile of the current incarnation of the organization should not detract from an awareness of al-Qaeda's enduring presence in Yemen.

Timeline	
December 29, 1992	Al-Qaeda targets the Gold Mohur hotel in the port of Aden, where U.S. military personnel are staying en route to Somalia. One Australian tourist is killed.
January 3, 2000	Al-Qaeda attempts a suicide attack on the USS <i>The Sullivans</i> in the port of Aden, but the attack craft sinks due to overloading.
October 12, 2000	The USS <i>Cole</i> is the object of an al-Qaeda maritime suicide attack in Aden. Seventeen U.S. naval personnel are killed and 39 are injured.
October 6, 2002	The French tanker <i>The Limburg</i> is the object of a maritime suicide attack in the Gulf of Aden. One Belgian crew member is killed and twelve others are injured.
November 3, 2002	The al-Qaeda leader in Yemen, Abu Ali al-Harithi, is killed by a U.S. Predator drone strike.
November 25, 2003	The Yemeni government arrests al-Harithi's replacement, Muhammad Hamdi al- Ahdal.
2003–2006	Al-Qaeda focuses on its confrontation with Saudi Arabia and is highly active inside the Kingdom. Yemenis are channeled toward participation in confrontations with coalition forces in Iraq.
February 3, 2006	A key moment in the emergence of a new al-Qaeda organization in Yemen as 23 prisoners escape from prison in Sanaa. This group makes up the nucleus of the organization known today as al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula. ⁹ As the group consolidates itself under the leadership of Osama Bin Laden's former secretary, Nasir Abdel Karim al-Wuhayshi (a.k.a. Abu Basir), his deputy Said Ali al-Shihri, and military commander Qasim al-Raimi, its attacks increase in sophistication and lethality. In addition, the success of the Saudi counterterrorism program up to 2006 ensured that the al-Qaeda threat was displaced to Yemen. ¹⁰ Initially targeting the extractive industries sector, al-Qaeda in Yemen, as the organization was then known, proceeded to utilize suicide bombings to target tourists and Western interests.
September 15, 2006	Failed simultaneous suicide bombings on oil and gas facilities in Hadramaut and Marib.
March 29, 2007	Assassination of Ali Mahmoud Qasaylah, chief criminal investigator in Marib.
June 21, 2007	Nasir al-Wuhayshi (Abu Basir) declared leader of AQAP by deputy Qasim al-Raymi (Abu Hureira al-Sanaani).
July 3, 2007	Seven Spanish tourists and their two Yemeni guides are killed in a suicide car bombing in Marib.
January 18, 2008	Two Belgian tourists and two Yemenis are killed in an attack in Hadramaut.
March 18, 2008	Grenade attack on U.S. Embassy.

4 | Exploiting Grievances: Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula

Timeline continued		
April 6, 2008	Attacks are made on two military checkpoints in Hadramaut and a foreigners' housing compound in Sanaa.	
April 30, 2008	The Italian Embassy is attacked with mortars.	
September 17, 2008	Al-Qaeda attacks the U.S. Embassy. At least 17 people killed.	
January 2009	Saudi and Yemeni branches of al-Qaeda are merged into a regional franchise— al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula—which pledged allegiance to al-Qaeda. Targeting of key security personnel increased. An increasingly sophisticated use of the media and communications technology is apparent in the group's magazine, <i>Sada al-Malahim</i> , first distributed in 2008 and now in its twelfth edition. A focus on outreach is matched by a commitment to innovation, best evidenced by the use of a foreign student traveling from a European city to attempt to down a Detroit- bound plane with concealed explosives on Christmas Day in 2009.	
March 15, 2009	A suicide bomber kills four South Korean tourists and their Yemeni guide. Three days later, a convoy of the victims' relatives and South Korean investigators are targeted in another suicide attack, but only the bomber is killed.	
March 18, 2009	A suicide attack is attempted against a convoy of vehicles on the road to Sanaa International Airport.	
August 28, 2009	An assassination is attempted against Saudi Assistant Minister of Interior for Security Affairs Prince Muhammad bin Nayef bin Abdulaziz.	
December 25, 2009	Nigerian student Umar Farouk Abdulmutallab tries to detonate explosives in a plane over Detroit. AQAP claims responsibility for the attack.	

Particularly since this near miss on December 25, 2009, it has been tempting to analyze AQAP as a new, little-known threat. In reality, much information is available about the organization. Because AQAP is the product of the fusion of al-Qaeda's Saudi and Yemeni branches, much can be learned from the successes and failures of both al-Qaeda in Saudi Arabia and the counterterrorist response. Equally illuminating is the study of the media output of al-Qaeda's franchise in Saudi Arabia, from the tactical and military publication *Mu'askar al-Battar* (al-Battar Training Camp) to its sister political publication *Sawt al-Jihad* (Voice of Jihad) and specific treatises, such as the seminal "A Practical Course for Guerilla Warfare," by former al-Qaeda leader in Saudi Arabia, Abdel Aziz Issa Abdul-Mohsin al-Muqrin. As we seek to draw conclusions about the organizational nature and threat posed by AQAP, taking time to analyze the tactical, operational, strategic, and ideational precursors for the group pays dividends. As Norman Cigar argues, "Access to al-Qaeda's doctrinal literature can provide valuable insights into the latter organization's planning, training, and operational thinking—insights that can help policy makers shape a more realistic profile of its leaders and of its strategy, which can be key in developing effective counterterrorism and counterinsurgency policies."¹¹

Sada al-Malahim and Frameworks of Collective Action

Considered alongside its attack record, a detailed analysis of AQAP's media output provides telling insights into the group. Such output shows how al-Qaeda tries to make different ideas, beliefs, myths, and traditions work to radicalize and mobilize the population. Al-Qaeda's publications provide a diagnosis of the problems faced by Yemenis, detailing grievances and apportioning blame. It also provides a prognosis for the future, proposing remedies and redress. In other words, AQAP provides both diagnostic and prognostic frameworks to mobilize followers and potential recruits into collective action.¹² AQAP's success as an organization depends entirely on the extent to which its frames resonate with the Yemeni population. In the face of debilitating law enforcement activity, AQAP faces the problem of constantly regenerating by recruiting new members; if it fails, it will pass into obscurity. Whether AQAP will endure and present an increasing security threat therefore depends on the extent to which its message resonates with local communities.

Even a cursory examination of *Sada al-Malahim* indicates that AQAP's diagnostic framework is designed to have a broad appeal and is likely to resonate successfully in Yemen. This has led seasoned analyst Gregory Johnsen to state in a recent Senate hearing that "al-Qaeda is the most representative organization in Yemen. It transcends class, tribe, and regional identity in a way that no other organization or political party does."¹³ As evidence of this broad appeal, Murad Batal al-Shishani, based on a rudimentary analysis of known members of the organization, claims that Yemenis make up 56 percent of the AQAP's total membership, Saudis 37 percent, and foreigners 7 percent. According to al-Shishani, the Yemeni members are equally distributed between northern and southern tribes.¹⁴ A shared grievance narrative has led to claims by Yemeni analysts that while al-Qaeda may number in the hundreds, there are tens of thousands of Yemenis who share their grievances.¹⁵

But a shared grievance does not imply agreement on means of redress, and it is this dissonance that holds the key to counterterrorism policy making in Yemen. Before considering the promotion of narrative dissonance as a counterterrorism tool, note that an analysis of *Sada al-Malahim* shows how AQAP has become increasingly successful in aligning its societal diagnosis with Yemeni grievances.

Identifying Grievances—AQAP's Diagnostic Framework

AQAP proffers a coherent grievance narrative that is consistent with the core tenets of al-Qaeda's ideology but infused with themes that resonate locally, increasing its salience, credibility, and audience acceptance. This hybridity has blurred the local and global, resulting in what has been termed "glocalization."¹⁶ The distinction between the "far enemy," the United States and its allies, has been blurred with the "near enemy," the alleged apostate Muslim regimes. As Thomas Hegghammer comments:

Al-Qaeda in Yemen is almost fully hybridized. Since 2006 it has launched numerous operations against both regime targets and western targets ... al-Qaeda in Yemen now has one of the most ambiguous enemy hierarchies in contemporary jihadism.¹⁷

According to AQAP, Muslims are suffering at the hands of a Crusader-Zionist alliance that props up illegitimate and corrupt local regimes that have failed to provide for their citizens. AQAP's diagnostic framework skillfully weaves local grievances into this wider narrative of persecution, marginalization, and threat. Appealing to tribal honor and deeply-felt religious sentiment, AQAP calls on

... the proud tribes of Yemen—people of support and victory—and the people of the Arabian Peninsula, to face the crusader campaign and their [collaborators] on the peninsula of Muhammad, prayer and peace upon him, [by] attacking their military bases, intelligence embassies, and their fleets that exist on the water and land of the Arabian Peninsula; until we stop the continuous massacres in the Muslim countries.¹⁸

This meta-narrative of suffering, which frequently focuses on issues of direct relevance to all Yemenis, such as events in Gaza and the Palestinian territories, is combined with grievances at the local level relating to inadequate service provision and inequities in natural resource allocation.

The people of Yemen are suffering from the decline of their living standards, the rise of prices, and the discriminatory practices with which the government deals with them in employment, the distribution of wealth and its looting, the misappropriation of lands, and the absence of someone to defend their rights.¹⁹

AQAP has therefore attempted with considerable success to identify and instrumentalize pre-existing grievances. The organization's opportunistic support for the secessionist movement among tribes in southern Yemen must be seen in this light.

This military movement mobilizing in Marib, Jawf, Shabwah, Abyan, Sana'a, and Hadramaut and which had been obscured in the media, is a step to strike the tribes with malicious excuses and shatter their pride, disarm them and control their lands, kill their sons, and make it easier for the bastard agents and the crusaders to humiliate them...²⁰

AQAP has presented the Houthi insurgency in northern Yemen in a way that capitalizes on widespread fear of the rise of Shi'i Islam and Iranian influence. Like the government, which claims the Houthis seek to impose Shi'i religious law and accuses Iran of directing and financing the insurgency, AQAP portrays the insurgency in increasingly sectarian terms, which serve to undermine any claims of complicity between itself and the Houthis.

If the Houthis were to win the war against the government, they would then have to deal with the Sunnis on numerous occasions that history will recall. We ask God to allow the defeat of the [Shi'a] rejectionists by the army and vice versa so that the Sunnis prevail.²¹

Addressing Grievances—AQAP's Prognostic Frame

O youth of faith, toughen up and carry your weapons in the face of those who want to stand between you and the crusaders, those who want to sell you cheaply to their American masters and sacrifice you on the altar of Christians. Rise like one man to defend the dignities of your brothers in Afghanistan and Iraq who are fighting the Cross before us...²²

Having tapped into a common grievance narrative, particularly targeted at a young, male demographic, AQAP offers a prognosis infused by the core al-Qaeda tenet of *al-wala' wal-bara'*—support for Muslims and enmity for non-Muslims. In the face of perceived injustice and proliferating existential threats, the prescription is violent jihad against the West and apostate Muslim regimes. The focus remains on ridding the Arabian Peninsula of all non-Muslims, the establishment of a local emirate, and the liberation of Palestine en route to the establishment of a global caliphate.²³

Assessing the Threat—Capability and Intent

As stated repeatedly by the government of Yemen, there has been a marked tendency to exaggerate the threat posed by AQAP. A recent U.S. Senate report stated that "there are significant al-Qaeda populations in Yemen and Somalia."²⁴ However, estimates of the size of the group in Yemen vary from 300 to 500 to as many as several thousand.²⁵ The lower figure may represent active cadres within the organization, while the larger figure presumably includes supportive elements. This is a manageable, intelligence-led law enforcement task, with clear roles for external actors in the provision of intelligence, logistical support, and capacity-building. To what extent does AQAP's diagnostic and prognostic frame of reference resonate? For Sarah Phillips

Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula is presenting its credentials in the regime's stead, but is offering little more than a lightning rod for entrenched grievances, of which there are many.²⁶

In addition, despite some tribal intermarriage designed to forge links between AQAP and tribal structures as well as consolidation in the governorates of Amran, Shabwa, Abyan, Hadramaut and Marib, it is far from clear that AQAP will be able to exploit tribal discontent and rally tribes to the violent jihadi cause.

Phillips correctly finds that AQAP has succeeded in aligning its message with pre-existing grievances in Yemen. The organization's appeal to defensive mobilization in the face of actual and perceived threats is tailored to young men and Yemen's tribes. This process of mobilization, radicalization, and recruitment is frequently taking place in locations where individuals are temporarily distanced from supportive family and social networks, such as institutions of religious instruction. As with radicalization elsewhere, this is an inherently social process.²⁷ Estimates of the size of AQAP confirm its limited success at recruitment.

Despite its size, the organization has shown considerable capacity for organizational learning; for example, it has concentrated on the assassination of unpopular security force targets rather than large suicide bombings, realizing these are apt to alienate local communities. An educational focus is also evidenced by a section in *Sada al-Malahim* called the School of Yusuf (*Madrasat Yusif*), dedicated to such topics as how to resist interrogation. The magazine includes articles penned by the proselytization (*da'wa*), religious (*shari'a*), and its military committees, indicators of AQAP's organizational structure.

Yemen as a Safe Haven and Destination for Foreign Fighters

Despite the limited membership of AQAP, it is necessary to separate the threat of radicalization in Yemen from the country's attraction as both a safe haven for other al-Qaeda elements and the threat posed by non-Yemenis gravitating to Yemen and then returning to their countries of origin to perpetrate attacks. For al-Qaeda, Yemen holds particular attractions as both a safe haven and a site of Islamic resurgence.

The mountainous and immune landscape of Yemen has made this country a natural and secure fortress not only for the people of the Arabian Peninsula but for all the people of the Middle East. It is the stronghold that could provide shelter to the people and mujahideen of Yemen, and this has been a constant all through Yemen's military history.²⁸

There have been increasing reports that al-Qaeda elements from the Pakistan/Afghanistan border area have started to move to Yemen. Al-Qaeda strategist Abu Musab al-Suri has highlighted the factors that make Yemen an attractive potential destination. The country comprises 75 percent of the population of the Arabian Peninsula and the "tribal coherent structure, the strength, the braveness, the love for fighting that the men of Yemen have—all this is an

obvious historic fact since ancient times."²⁹ In addition, al-Suri claims there are 70 million small arms in the country³⁰ and notes its open borders, the proximity of the strategic Bab al-Mandab waterway, and

... the feelings of injustice and exploitation which are considered to be the main hidden motivator that must receive the right Islamic guidance in order to become an important strategic factor in motivating people towards jihad.³¹

While figures remain hard to verify, there are credible reports that Yemen is now a preferred destination for non-Yemeni converts or foreign fighters. Somalia is mentioned with increasing frequency in AQAP's media output, which along with offers of assistance from the armed Somali Islamist group al-Shabaab raises the specter of operational cooperation between the two groups. While cooperation may be just an aspiration at this stage, the presence of hundreds of thousands of Somali refugees in Yemen, established routes for smuggling people and weapons between Yemen and Somalia, and a shared strategic target in the Bab al-Mandab Strait separating the two counties make joint operational activity between the two groups highly likely. Geographical proximity augments the fact that both groups began to initiate attacks outside their immediate area of operations (AQAP in the United States, al-Shabaab in Australia and Denmark) in 2009.

Conclusion: The Limitations of Hard Power and a Developmental Approach to Counterterrorism

Military and law enforcement responses to the threat posed by AQAP clearly have a role to play. Such responses must be proportionate, exclusively Yemeniled, and minimize the risk of civilian casualties, which would only serve to alienate communities that are the vital ground in governmental efforts to close down AQAP's operating space. The large number of civilian casualties following the al-Ma'ajalah airstrikes in Abyan simply reinforced the extremist narrative that the West is using its apostate government proxy to kill innocent Muslims. While there are concrete security measures that can and must be taken to address the AQAP threat, these cannot be considered in isolation. Given the considerable resonance between AQAP's diagnostic frame of reference and Yemeni grievances, there is a real risk this resonance will produce an increased receptivity or willingness to consider alternatives to traditional Yemeni ways of seeking redress, including violence. A comprehensive counterterrorism approach therefore goes beyond the application of hard power. Addressing the phenomenon of al-Qaeda in Saudi Arabia, Norman Cigar offers an analysis that applies equally to Yemen:

The challenge of the socioeconomic grievances and opening up the system to greater participation, which might appeal to the pool of potential QAP [al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula] sympathizers, remains to be dealt with, and that alone can ensure victory in the longer term over the QAP.

Yemenis are focused on improving governmental responsiveness, accountability, service provision (particularly in relation to employment), and development. These are the keys to inoculating communities against al-Qaeda's violent prescriptions. The limited base of empirical evidence indicates that among many young people, support for armed groups—be they Houthi rebels in the North or AQAP—may be based more on economic considerations than deeply held ideological commitments. A developmental approach to countering the threat of terrorism in Yemen must focus on effective local participation, responsiveness, credibility and, crucially, service delivery. Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula is currently a localized threat with increasingly globalized ambitions. Addressing such a threat entails not simply kinetic counterterrorist initiatives but also a greater understanding of and attempt to address the points of resonance between the organization and local Yemeni communities, as well as the promotion of dissonance in relation to the means of seeking redress for actual and perceived grievances.

Recommendations

- a. Avoid an over-dependence on hard power and adopt a radicalizationsensitive approach. While targeted operations are necessary, they should be Yemeni-led, strenuously avoid civilian casualties that extremist narratives exploit, and should form part of a comprehensive partnership approach that prioritizes soft power and developmental initiatives so as to boost community resilience to violent radicalization. This would require the Yemeni government and its international partners to work with communities to identify and address needs. While mechanisms such as the governmental Social Fund for Development are available to aid this process, a responsive development assistance approach to counterterrorism can only succeed if accompanied by a genuine commitment by the government to address identified grievances. This will undercut AQAP's appeal to defensive mobilization in the face of what they identify as injustice, rampant corruption, and societal inequality.
- **b.** Map the push factors that are supporting the process of radicalization. To understand the factors that push individuals into violent extremism, a systematic grievance mapping exercise should be undertaken with the Yemeni government. This would contain a geographical element, because support for AQAP is clustered in certain governorates (*muhafazat*). The objective of such an exercise would be, first, to reduce the salience of themes resonating between AQAP and Yemeni communities and, second, to exploit areas of dissonance, such as AQAP's rejection of dialogue, a central feature of traditional Yemeni means of dispute resolution.

- c. Understand what AQAP is saying and how its message resonates with Yemeni communities. Pull factors and the role of social networks and organizational dynamics are as important as push factors in understanding the process of radicalization. Such pull factors can also be elucidated from discussions with former members of AQAP as well as vulnerable individuals attracted by the organization's message, particularly young people.³²
- d. Analyze how AQAP disseminates its message. This is of particular interest, given the low Internet penetration and high illiteracy rates in Yemen. Communication and network analysis should be utilized to address this lacuna. Core message themes should be disaggregated to highlight the varying levels of audience receptivity across demographics.
- e. Support counter-radicalization or de-radicalization initiatives based on dialogue. The confrontation with al-Qaeda, both in Yemen and more broadly, is, in part, an ideological one, even if socialization and mobilization into terrorism often precede the religious framing of the conflict. Incidents of recidivism are an inevitable part of such programs, as they are among conventional prison populations, and should not be used to justify terminating such initiatives. What is required is a comprehensive analysis of the evolution and implementation of such programs around the world so as to inform creative new thinking.
- f. Include the role of women in both the problem analysis and the exploration of solutions. Despite the understandable focus on the vulnerable young male population, it would be a mistake to focus interventions or development efforts on men only. AQAP's e-magazine *Sada al-Malahim* (The Echo of Epic Battles) places considerable emphasis on the role of women in jihad, and evidence from Saudi Arabia confirms that women are involved in the dissemination of al-Qaeda's message.³³
- g. Ensure that efforts to enhance the capability and capacity of the Yemeni security forces are matched by a corresponding focus on their accountability and adherence to human rights norms. There is a significant risk that support of the Yemeni security forces may exacerbate existing grievances that fuel radicalization. In a 2008 U.S. Agency for International Development study on Yemeni youth, several individuals identified the security forces and the prison system as a factor in driving an individual towards violence. One individual stated, "Prisons and juvenile centers are supposed to rehabilitate the youth. What happens is the opposite. They get abused and they come out of jail even more aggressive and more violent."³⁴
- **h.** Adopt a regional approach. As the displacement of the al-Qaeda threat from Saudi Arabia to Yemen in 2009 highlights, a regional approach is required to effectively combat AQAP. Despite legitimate Western security

12 | Exploiting Grievances: Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula

fears, it should be remembered that the group poses the greatest threat to regional stability for the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries, and they should be encouraged to take the lead, even if the motivation for some is purely enlightened self-interest.

Notes

- 1 Editorial (untitled, anonymous author) in Sada al-Malahim, vol. 4, p. 3, http:// www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2008/07/7-13-08-ekhlaas-issue-4-ofsada-al-malahim.pdf.
- 2 Paul Dresch, *Tribes, Government, and History in Yemen* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1990).
- 3 Hamil al-Misk, "Arba' Sanawat 'Ala al Najat wal Thabat" [Four Years after Survival and Steadfastness], *Sada al-Malahim*, vol. 12 (February 2010), p. 35.
- 4 "Prince Muhammad bin Nayef Slightly Injured in Terrorist Attack," Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia, Washington, D.C., August 28, 2009, http://www.saudiembassy.net/latest_news/news08280901.aspx.
- 5 "Amaliyat al-akh al-mujahid 'umar al-farouq al-nijiri fi rad al-'adwan al-amiriki 'ala al-yaman" [The operation of the mujahid 'umar al-farouq the Nigerian in response to the American aggression on Yemen], al-Fajr Media Center; Steven Erlanger, "Nigerian May Have Used Course in Yemen as Cover," *New York Times*, January 1, 2009, http://www.nytimes.com/2010/01/01/world/middleeast/01yemen.html.
- 6 "US giving security support to Yemen: Petraeus," David Petraeus interview, *Al Arabiya*, December 13, 2009, http://www.alarabiya.net/articles/2009/12/13/ 94083.html.
- 7 "U.S. Military Teams, Intelligence Deeply Involved in Aiding Yemen on Strikes," Washington Post, January 26, 2010, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/ content/article/2010/01/26/AR2010012604239.html.
- 8 http://www.nefafoundation.org/miscellaneous/Nefa_AQIY0210Tape.pdf.
- 9 Gregory D. Johnsen, "Tracking Yemen's 23 Escaped Jihadis Part 1," *Terrorism Monitor*, vol. 5, January 18, 2007, p. 18; Gregory D. Johnsen, "Tracking Yemen's 23 Escaped Jihadis Part 2," *Terrorism Monitor*, vol. 5, January 18, 2007, p. 19.
- 10 The arrest of 113 suspected Al-Qaeda members in Saudi Arabia announced on March 25, 2010, as well as the attempted infiltration of Al-Qaeda operatives Yousuf Muhammad Mubarak al-Shihra and Raed Abdullah Salim al-Harbi into Saudi Arabia's Jazan province in October 2009 confirm that attacks inside the Saudi Kingdom remain a priority for AQAP.
- 11 Norman Cigar, *Al-Qa'ida's Doctrine for Insurgency* (Dulles, Va.: Potomac Books Inc., 2009), p. 4.
- 12 Robert Benford and David Snow, "Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment," *Annual Review of Sociology*, vol. 26, August 2000, pp. 611–639.

- 13 Testimony of Gregory D. Johnsen Before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, January 20, 2010, http://foreign.senate.gov/testimony/2010/ JohnsenTestimony100120a.pdf.
- 14 Murad Batal al-Shishani, Terrorism Monitor, vol. 8, issue 9, March 5, 2010.
- 15 Personal communication with author, Sanaa, October 2009.
- Roland Robertson, *Globalization: Social Theory and Global Culture* (London: Sage, 1994).
- 17 Thomas Hegghammer, "The Ideological Hybridization of Jihadi Groups," *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology*, vol. 9, 2009, p. 34.
- 18 "Al-Qaida in Yemen: AQIY Responds to Airstrike with New Threats," December 27, 2009, NEFA Foundation, http://www.nefafoundation.org/miscellaneous/ nefaAQIYresponse1209.pdf.
- 19 Hamil al-Misk, "Min huna nabda..." [From Here We Start...], Sada al-Malahim, vol. 8, March 2009, p. 27.
- 20 Nasser al-Wahayshi, "Wa yamkurun wa yamkur Allah [And the unbelievers plotted and planned, and Allah too planned]," *Sada al-Malahim*, vol. 8, March 2009, p. 5.
- 21 Sheikh Ibrahim al-Rubaysh, "Al-al-rawafid wa marahil al-muwajaha" [The Rejectionists and the Stages of Confrontation], *Sada al-Malahim*, vol. 11, October 2009, pp. 25–26.
- 22 Abu Hajer al-Muqrin, "Risala Ila Shabab al-Yaman" [A Letter to the Youth of Yemen], *Sada al-Malahim*, vol. 4, July 2008, p. 38.
- 23 http://www.aawsat.com/details.asp?section=4&article=559187&issueno=11416.
- 24 Al Qaeda in Yemen and Somalia: A Ticking Time Bomb (2010), Report of the U.S. Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, http://foreign.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/ Yemen.pdf, p. 8.
- 25 While most estimates place the membership at 300–500, Yemeni journalist Abdalilah Haydar Shay'a, who has interviewed senior members of the organization, places membership at 3,000. http://www.aawsat.com/details.asp?section=4&article =559187&issueno=11416.
- 26 Sarah Philips, *What Comes Next in Yemen: Al-Qaeda, the Tribes, and State-Building*, http://www.carnegieendowment.org/files/yemen_tribes.pdf, page 7.
- 27 M. Sageman, Understanding Terror Networks (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2004). On radicalization in the Middle East see R. Hutson, T. Long, and M. Page, "Pathways to Violent Radicalization in the Middle East—A Model for Future Studies of Transnational Jihad," *The Royal United Services Institute* Journal, 154/2, 2009, pp. 18–26.
- 28 Abu Musab al-Suri, "The Responsibility of the People of Yemen Regarding the Sanctuary of Muslims," http://www.tawhed.ws/r?i=wksgfnyz.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 More recent studies have estimated the number of weapons in Yemen at the significantly reduced but still extremely high figure of 6 to 9 million. http://www. smallarmssurvey.org/files/sas/publications/o_papers_pdf/2003-op09-yemen.pdf

- 31 Ibid.
- 32 John Horgan, Walking Away From Terrorism: Accounts of Disengagement from Radical and Extremist Movements (New York: Routledge, 2008).
- 33 Cigar 2009, op cit., footnote 69.
- 34 USAID, Yemen Cross-Sectoral Youth Assessment (Washington D.C.: USAID, 2008), p. 35. Cited in Alistair Harris and Michael Page "Al-Qa'ida in Yemen: Situation Update and Recommendations for Policy Makers," http://www.rusi.org/analysis/ commentary/ref:C4B475DF54843E.

About the Carnegie Endowment

The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is a private, nonprofit organization dedicated to advancing cooperation between nations and promoting active international engagement by the United States. Founded in 1910, its work is nonpartisan and dedicated to achieving practical results.

Following its century-long practice of changing as global circumstances change, the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is undertaking a fundamental redefinition of its role and mission. Carnegie aims to transform itself from a think tank on international issues to the first truly multinational—ultimately global—think tank. The Endowment has added operations in Beijing, Beirut, and Brussels to its existing centers in Washington and Moscow. These five locations include the two centers of world governance and the three places whose political evolution and international policies will most determine the near-term possibilities for international peace and economic advance.

The Carnegie Middle East Program combines in-depth local knowledge with incisive comparative analysis to examine economic, socio-political, and strategic interests in the Arab world. Through detailed country studies and the exploration of key cross-cutting themes, the Carnegie Middle East Program, in coordination with the Carnegie Middle East Center, provides analysis and recommendations in both English and Arabic that are deeply informed by knowledge and views from the region. The Program produces the *Arab Reform Bulletin* online journal—in English and Arabic—covering political, economic, and human rights developments in Arab countries as well as U.S. and European policy toward the region. The *Arab Reform Bulletin* engages readers from across the world, building on a long track record as a reliable and innovative source of analysis and information on reform issues inside the Arab world.

Carnegie Papers

Carnegie Papers present new research by Endowment associates and their collaborators from other institutions. The series includes new time-sensitive research and key excerpts from larger works in progress. Comments from readers are most welcome; please send an e-mail to pubs@CarnegieEndowment.org.

2010

Exploiting Grievances: Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (A. Harris)
War in Saada: From Local Insurrection to National Challenge (C. Boucek)
Millennium Challenge Corporation: Can the Experiment Survive? (J. Hewko)
The Political Challenge of Yemen's Southern Movement (S. Day)
What Comes Next in Yemen? Al-Qaeda, the Tribes, and State-Building (S. Phillips)
Overmanaged Democracy in Russia: Governance Implications of Hybrid Regimes
(N. Petrov, M. Lipman, H. Hale)

2009

Iran, the United States, and the Gulf: The Elusive Regional Policy (M. Ottaway) Al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb: Algerian Challenge or Global Threat? (J. Filiu) Five Alternatives that Make More Sense than Offshore Oil (W. Leonard) Yemen: Avoiding a Downward Spiral (C. Boucek) Warlords as Bureaucrats: The Afghan Experience (D. Mukhopadhyay) Concrete Steps to Improve the Nonproliferation Regime (P. Goldschmidt) Stepping Back From Democratic Pessimism (T. Carothers)

2008

Islamists in Politics: The Dynamics of Participation (M. Ottaway and A. Hamzawy)
Saudi Arabia's "Soft" Counterterrorism Strategy: Prevention, Rehabilitation, and Aftercare (C. Boucek)
Can Trade Policy Support the Next Global Climate Agreement? Analyzing the International Trade and Environment Regimes (M. Lay)
The Russian World: Changing Meanings and Strategies (V. Tishkov)
The New Arab Diplomacy: Not With the U.S. and Not Against the U.S. (M. Ottaway and M. Herzallah)
Party for Justice and Development in Morocco: Participation and Its Discontents (A. Hamzawy)
International Labor Migration in a Globalizing Economy (R. Lucas)
Islam in Uzbekistan: Religious Education and State Ideology (M. B. Olcott, D. Ziyaeva)
Assessing Secretary of State Rice's Reform of U.S. Foreign Assistance (G. F. Hyman)
The Draft Party Platform of the Egyptian Muslim Brotherhood: Foray Into Political Integration or Retreat Into Old Positions? (N. J. Brown, A. Hamzawy)

For a complete list of Carnegie Papers, visit www.CarnegieEndowment.org/pubs.

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

1779 Massachusetts Ave., NW Washington, D.C. 20036 United States Phone: 202.483.7600 Fax: 202.483.1840 www.CarnegieEndowment.org info@CarnegieEndowment.org

CARNEGIE MOSCOW CENTER

Iverskaya, 16/2 125009, Moscow Russia Phone: 495.935.8904 Fax: 495.935.8906 www.Carnegie.ru info@Carnegie.ru

CARNEGIE-TSINGHUA CENTER FOR GLOBAL POLICY

No. 1 East Zhongguancun Street, Building 1 Tsinghua University Science Park (TUS Park) Innovation Tower, Room B1202C Haidian District, Beijing 100084 China

CARNEGIE MIDDLE EAST CENTER

Emir Beshir Street, Lazarieh Tower Bloc A, Bldg. No. 2026 1210, 5th fl P.O.Box 11-1061 Downtown Beirut Lebanon Phone: 961.1.99.14.91 Fax: 961.1.99.15.91 www.Carnegie-mec.org info@Carnegie-mec.org

CARNEGIE EUROPE

Brussels Office Avenue d'Auderghem, 82 1040 Brussels Belgium Phone: 32.2.735.56.50 Fax: 32.2.736.62.22 www.CarnegieEurope.eu brussels@ceip.org

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

WASHINGTON DC MOSCOW BEIJING BEIRUT BRUSSELS